RECEIVED

Aug 01 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RAY L. KELLY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001449

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in forcing Appellant, who was on trial for murdering a police officer, to appear before the jury in a restraint chair, where the restraint chair was not justified by the circumstances, since restraints must be case specific?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in requiring Appellant to remain shackled throughout his trial for murdering a police officer, where shackling was not justified by the circumstances, since shackling must be case specific?

3.

Whether the trial court erred in Appellant's trial for murdering a police officer, where it failed to exercise any discretion regarding the large number of uniformed officers in the gallery (35 – 40 officers in uniform including tactical gear), since Appellant had the right to a fair trial free from outside influence?

4.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting repeated depictions (video, audio, and photographic) of the fatal crash and its aftermath, where the probative value of the cumulative evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, since the evidence should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?

5.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting evidence pertaining to a blood draw purportedly of Appellant's blood, which was taken for medical purposes and demanded by law enforcement for prosecution purposes, where the chain of custody was wholly inadequate, since the State must establish a chain of custody as far as practicable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the November term of 2020, a Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for murder, two counts of resisting arrest with assault, driving without a license, and providing false information to police. During the September term of 2021, a Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for trafficking cocaine base, 28 – 100 grams, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. During the November term of 2022, a Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for a third count of resisting arrest with assault. Appellant was also charged with speeding and following too closely.¹

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Edward W. Miller and a jury, from September 26 – 29, 2022. W. Walter Wilkins, III, and Grace Moroney prosecuted the case. Appellant appeared pro se with Mindy Lipinski as standby counsel during initial portions of the trial. Standby counsel subsequently stepped in to represent Appellant as his counsel.²

Appellant was acquitted of speeding and following too closely. Appellant was convicted as indicted on the remaining offenses, and he was sentenced to serve: life without parole for murder; thirty years for trafficking cocaine base, 28 – 100 grams, third offense; five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; ten years for each count of resisting arrest with assault; time served for driving without a license; and time served for giving false information to police.³

This appeal follows.

¹ R. 701-714; R. 100, l. 21 – 101, l. 10.

² R. 61; R. 166, l. 17 – 171, l. 20; R. 73, ll. 4-24.

³ R. 685, l. 20 – 687, l. 7; R. 697, ll. 15-23; R. 715-721.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

Appellant stood trial for causing the death of a police officer who was killed in the line of duty after being hit by a tractor trailer. Although Appellant did not commit misconduct in court or threaten misconduct in court, he refused to come out of his holding cell and was strapped into a restraint chair. Appellant was thus tried before the jury in a restraint chair and while shackled. Thirty-five to forty police officers in uniform (some in tactical gear) observed the trial from the gallery. The State repeatedly admitted depictions of Decedent getting hit by the eighteen-wheeler and dying in the road. Appellant did not receive due process and a fair trial under these circumstances: conviction in a court of law is not by passion, prejudice, or show of force.

Relevant facts

On the afternoon of October 20, 2020, Master Deputy Conley Jumper (Decedent) of the Greenville County Sherriff's Department was killed while trying to arrest Appellant. Appellant was pulled over for speeding and following too closely by interdiction units looking for crime on I-85. During the stop, Deputy Wasserman smelled marijuana and decided to search Appellant's car. When Wasserman told Appellant of his intention to search, Appellant tried to run and get back in his car. A struggle ensued which included Appellant, Wasserman, Decedent, and a third officer, Deputy Ledbetter.⁴

The car was parked close to the white line which demarcated the shoulder from the busy road. Interstate traffic passed by the struggling men. Appellant succeeded in getting back in the car and Decedent entered the car after him, with both men crammed in the driver's compartment; Decedent face down on top of Appellant's lap with Decedent's legs hanging out of the open

⁴ R. 140, l. 3 – 102, l. 12; R. 237, l. 6 – 248, l. 23; State's Exhibit #2.

driver's door. The car entered traffic while Decedent and Appellant struggled over the steering wheel. The car and Decedent's lower body were struck by an eighteen-wheeler. Decedent was ejected from the car and rolled to a stop; Appellant's car was struck by a fourth interdiction unit, driven by Deputy Harrison, and Appellant was ejected from the car. Although emergency medical personnel arrived quickly, Decedent died within twenty minutes from blunt force injuries.⁵

Appellant did not want to be represented by a lawyer, and after warnings pursuant to *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), trial began with Appellant representing himself. Standby counsel was present. The arguments Appellant made in his defense were misguided. Appellant repeatedly questioned the court's jurisdiction; he questioned the trial judge's oath and the solicitor's birth certificate. He stated he was a "beneficiary of the trust." He made general objections to the proceedings: "I object to the proceedings. I do not understand the jurisdiction." However, Appellant did not commit any misconduct in the courtroom—he did not threaten anyone with physical harm, he did not physically act out in any manner, and he did not otherwise present a security threat. He did not use profanity.⁶

The trial proceeded through voir dire, jury selection, swearing of the jury, and the court's introductory remarks. The proceedings broke for lunch, and when they resumed, the court observed that Appellant was now in "a special chair." Appellant stated, "Let the record reflect that I'm not here willingly. I'm handcuffed, shackled. I'm tied to a chair. I was insulted. And I

⁵ R. 150, ll. 4-15; R. 161, l. 19 – 166, l. 6; R. 247, l. 14 – 259, l. 19; R. 280, l. 2 – 289, l. 6; R. 305, ll. 7-20; R. 284, l. 8 – 344, l. 3; R. 347, l. 3 – 447, l. 8; State's Exhibit #2.

⁶ R. 46, l. 20 – 23, l. 9; R. 71, ll. 4-14; R. 83, ll. 8-11; R. 92, l. 16 – 97, l. 14; R. 112, l. 24 – 123, l. 16.

do not choose to participate in any of the proceedings. . .” The court asked why Appellant was in the restraint chair.⁷

THE SLED OFFICER: Your Honor, it was when—he refused to come out of his cell. And then when we went to assist him in standing, it was active resistance towards us at that point in time. So he was placed in the chair and brought to the courtroom.

THE COURT: Okay.

DEFENDANT KELLY: I object. That’s a lie. I was physically assaulted.

THE COURT: Okay.

DEFENDANT KELLY: It’s on camera.

THE COURT: All right. Well, let me—Mr. Kelly, we’re just doing our best to accommodate you.

DEFENANT KELLY: I don’t want any accommodations.

THE COURT: Okay.

DEFENDANT KELLY: I don’t want any participation in this circus.

THE COURT: All right, Well, this is your day in court, so to speak. All right. Well, let’s—let’s bring the jury in. Hold them one second, the jury I’m talking about. Just for the record, **I want to make a finding that the Defendant has been disruptive. And that because of that behavior, pursuant to the guidelines, as I understood them from the United States Supreme Court laid out in *Illinois v. Allen*, I approve the use of this restraint chair.**⁸

The Solicitor made two body-worn camera recordings of what happened in Appellant’s holding cell a part of the record. These recordings are Court’s Exhibit #9 and Court’s Exhibit #10, and are on file with this Court. The recordings show that after Appellant refused to come out of the holding cell, approximately nine officers approached and entered the cell with a restraint chair, attempted to place Appellant in the restraint chair, and Appellant did not

⁷ R. 131, l. 13 – 134, l. 10.

⁸ R. 134, l. 11 – 135, l. 12 (emphasis added).

cooperate. Instead, he squirmed, struggled, and jerked his shackled hands around. Appellant was placed into the chair and wheeled into the courtroom while strapped into the chair and shackled. Court's Exhibit #4 and Court's Exhibit #5 are photographs of Appellant in the courtroom in the restraint chair that were published by the media. These photographs are also on file with this Court.⁹

The trial proceeded through the prosecution's opening statement. Appellant did not give an opening statement. When the State finished its direct examination of its first witness, Appellant asked to speak with standby counsel. There was a break in proceedings and Appellant agreed to be represented by standby counsel. He also told standby counsel he would walk into the courtroom. Thereafter, the court noted Appellant was no longer in the restraint chair, but he remained shackled except for his writing hand. The court broke for the evening.¹⁰

The next day, defense counsel made a motion to remove Appellant's shackles. Defense counsel argued the shackles should be removed since they were audible, and that although they were not visible, "you can nonetheless hear the metal, the belly chain that he's in, the handcuffs that he's in, the leg restraints that he's in. And so the Defense is making a motion to remove those so as to mitigate it." The court ruled, "I go back to the seminal case of *Illinois vs. Allen* about he could be gagged and it would be appropriate if he earned that. So he is where he is based on his conduct up to this point." Trial continued.¹¹

Crack cocaine and a pistol had been found in Appellant's trunk after the crash. The pistol was in a plastic box in the trunk and the crack cocaine (fifty-five grams) was in a plastic bag

⁹ R. 634, l. 19 – 635, l. 5; R. 186, l. 16 – 187, l. 10.

¹⁰ R. 166, l. 15 – 171, l. 1; R. 175, ll. 14-17.

¹¹ R. 193, l. 20 – 194, l. 25.

inside of a drawstring bag which contained laundry. The State used DNA on the laundry and other items in the trunk to tie Appellant to the drugs. Clothing inside the laundry bag was tested for DNA. DNA analysis showed that several items of clothing likely had Appellant's DNA on them. For example, as to the test results on a mixture of DNA from a pair of underwear, "the results for those comparisons were that the DNA profile is approximately 62 octillion times more likely if Ray Kelly and two unidentified unrelated individuals contributed to the mixture than if three unidentified unrelated individual contributed to the mixture."¹²

The State had obtained Appellant's DNA standard by getting a search warrant for Appellant's blood. Appellant was taken to the hospital for medical treatment after the crash. It was a swab from this blood sample, taken for medical purposes, that was used for comparison by the DNA analyst. Investigator Davis said he went to the hospital, showed the attending nurse the search warrant, and learned Appellant had been assigned a "trauma name" by the hospital. Davis then obtained vials of blood labeled "TR 2020 Montana 078." Davis did not know who drew the blood and he was not present when it was collected. Davis testified,

I met Greenville County Public Safety, their forensic services at the hospital. And with the—and some Greenville County deputies that were either sitting with at the time later identified as Mr. Kelly . . . I identified the search warrant to the attending nurse for him to confirm that that was the subject who I had listed in the search warrants since we only knew him by a trauma name to execute the search warrant. And then I, also, took the search warrant over to where the blood was kept and showed then that in order to obtain the correlating blood to that trauma name.¹³

Defense counsel objected to the blood and DNA evidence based on a fatally defective chain of custody, since the State could not identify who had drawn and labeled the blood.

¹² R. 433, l. 8 – 435, l. 18; R. 541, l. 19 – 543, l. 19; R. 578, l. 11 – 579, l. 23.

¹³ R. 466, l. 10 – 481, l. 8; R. 480, ll. 3-16; R. 572, ll. 19-25.

Defense counsel argued: “their failure to identify the person who drew and labeled the blood purported to be that of Mr. Kelly renders the chain fatally defective.” The court ruled the State had established chain of custody; the blood and DNA evidence was admitted.¹⁴

Witnesses, including an expert in accident reconstruction, testified about the crash. The officers involved in the traffic stop, crash, and subsequent scene were equipped with body-worn cameras and microphones, and their cars had dashboard cameras. Initially, some of these recordings came in without objection (State’s Exhibits #1 – 3; State’s Exhibit #5). However, when the prosecutor piled on, counsel objected pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. These exhibits included video footage, audio recordings, and photographic evidence (State’s Exhibit #6; State’s Exhibit #7; State’s Exhibit #8; State’s Exhibit #9; State’s Exhibit #26), and are on file with this Court. Counsel argued the danger of unfair prejudice occasioned by this cumulative presentation substantially outweighed the probative value of the evidence. The court overruled the objections. The State repeatedly played and replayed depictions of Decedent being hit by the tractor trailer and Decedent as he lay dying in the road. This included futile attempts to render aid to Decedent and his last remarks.¹⁵

As the trial proceeded, defense counsel made a motion that uniformed law enforcement officers in the gallery be instructed to appear in plainclothes. Defense counsel noted that in addition to four plainclothes SLED officers and two uniformed courthouse deputies, the prior day there were:

any number of officers in the courtroom. I think the danger is of unfair prejudice that Mr. Kelly is somehow this violent person that requires this top-level security . . . **I am concerned that the**

¹⁴ R. 467, l. 17 – 481, l. 8; R. 475, ll. 16-19; R. 476, l. 6 – 477, l. 10; R. 572, ll. 19-25.

¹⁵ R. 359, l. 10 – 360, l. 11; R. 400, ll. 2-20; R. 206, ll. 6-16; R. 255, l. 14 – 258, l. 1; R. 281, ll. 11-16; R. 284, ll. 3-15; R. 327, ll. 7-25; R. 368, ll. 4-12; R. 402, l. 18 – 403, l. 14.

multitude of officers present presents an unfair prejudice to which he cannot sufficiently respond. I do appreciate the plain clothes officers. I believe in other trials I have been in the Court has instructed that any officers who aren't witnesses not appear in uniform so we don't kind of get this thin blue line law enforcement kind of pressure on the secure [sic]. And **I would ask this Court impose that similar restriction, that if you're not a witness and you want to come and support your fellow officer that you do so in plain clothes.**"¹⁶

The court ruled that, "this is a matter involving three victims who were sheriff's deputies. And that's just the fact of the matter. And I am not inclined to grant that motion requiring them to change clothes."¹⁷

Counsel subsequently renewed her motion, noting there were *now twenty or twenty-five officers in the courtroom*. Defense counsel moved that the officers be instructed to wear plainclothes, or that the court send them into another courtroom to view the proceedings via livestream. Defense counsel noted the number of officers was "overwhelming" and "unduly prejudicial." "I feel the need to renew our motion given the number is climbing." The court denied the motion.¹⁸

Later, counsel moved for a mistrial based on the overwhelming presence of law enforcement officers in the courtroom. Counsel renewed her motion "to limit the number of law enforcement officers in the courtroom, particular [sic] during the closing argument. *We're now upwards of 35 to 40 officers in this courtroom, some in tactical gear, various uniforms of any kind.*" "[T]he prejudice to the Defendant is overwhelming. It could be live streamed in another courtroom, They could have appeared in any—plain clothes. There's any number of options that

¹⁶ R. 183, l. 2 – 184, l. 19.

¹⁷ R. 185, l. 25 – 186, l. 4.

¹⁸ R. 600, l. 7 – 601, l. 14.

were available and have been raised by the Defense that would have mitigated that prejudice. And so for that, we ask the Court to consider alternatives so as not to unduly prejudice the jury.” The court denied the motions. After the verdicts were returned, counsel moved for a new trial based upon “passion and prejudice” due to “the heavy law enforcement presence.” The court denied the motion. Notably, at no time during counsel’s motions did the solicitor or the trial court dispute her estimates of the number of officers in the room or her description of them as being in uniform, with some in tactical gear.¹⁹

The State proceeded on a theory of *Mouzon*²⁰ malice in this case; the defense contested malice. The jury struggled with the case, deliberating for just shy of four hours. The jury asked, “Is manslaughter an option for a guilty charge or is murder the only option?” It asked for written instructions. It asked whether it could see statements from the truck drivers (the truck drivers were referenced in the trial but not called as witnesses). Ultimately, the jury acquitted Appellant of the underlying traffic offenses which were the basis for the traffic stop, but it convicted him of the other offenses.²¹

¹⁹ R. 624, l. 9 – 269, l. 9; R. 634, ll. 1-16; R. 688, l. 19 – 689, l. 13.

²⁰ *State v. Mouzon*, 231 S.C. 655, 662, 99 S.E.2d 672, 675 (1957), held that evidence is sufficient to sustain a verdict of murder where, “Although it may be fairly assumed there was no actual intent to kill or injure another, there is evidence of such recklessness and wantonness as to indicate a depravity of mind and disregard of human life, from which a jury could infer malice.”

²¹ R. 682, l. 21 – 685, l. 14. The jury notes are located at pp. 699-700 of the Record on Appeal.

1.

The trial court erred in forcing Appellant, who was on trial for murdering a police officer, to appear before the jury in a restraint chair, where the restraint chair was not justified by the circumstances, since restraints must be case specific.

Appellant’s failure to come out of the holding cell was not a threat to courtroom security that justified requiring him to appear before the jury in a restraint chair. Similarly, although Appellant’s pro se objections were obnoxious, speech is not conduct and it did not necessitate total physical restraint. The court did not assess whether the restraint chair was necessary— instead, it seemingly deferred to courtroom security’s decision.

Standard of review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” *State v. Hawes*, 411 S.C. 188, 190, 767 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2015) (citations omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011). “Whether a defendant is restrained during trial is within the trial judge’s discretion. The trial judge is to balance the prejudicial effect of shackling with the considerations of courtroom decorum and security.” *State v. Tucker*, 320 S.C. 206, 209, 464 S.E.2d 105, 107 (1995). *See State v. Heyward*, Op. No. 28182 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Oct. 5, 2023) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 40 at 11) (trial court’s failure to assess whether shackles were necessary or to ensure the jury could not see them was an abuse of discretion).

Discussion

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