**RECEIVED**

**Aug 01 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County  
The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RAY L. KELLY,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-001449

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. W. WALTER WILKINS  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

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

On June 27, 2022, a fifth pretrial hearing was held. Ms. Gorton, asked to be substituted as standby counsel due to a scheduling conflict. She also articulated that Appellant had refused to meet with her and discuss the case. Appellant's response was to deny having any counsel and behave as he had in prior hearings. Judge Miller granted Ms. Gorton's request and substituted Ms. Lipinski as standby counsel for Appellant. (June 27, 2022, hearing, R. p. 50; p. 52-59).

Appellant's jury trial commenced on September 26, 2022, before Judge Miller. Final pretrial matters were addressed, and Appellant began with his usual behavior. The trial court noted for the record that *Appellant had been offered access to regular clothing in lieu of prison attire but had refused such.* (R. p. 70-72). Ms. Lipinski addressed the court to note that she had made multiple efforts to meet with Appellant, and was minimally successful, but in her most recent efforts he again refused to speak with her or her investigator. (R. p. 73). Appellant continued his disruptive efforts via unnecessary objections and repetitive assertions. (R. p. 74-76). Thereafter, the trial court explicitly warned Appellant that there would be repercussions if he continued to interrupt and behave in his usual manner. (R. p. 76).

Appellant continued to interrupt with unnecessary objections.<sup>6</sup> (R. p. 77-87). The trial court then issued the following warning to Appellant:

Mr. Kelly, as you are aware, if you misbehave in the court, the State has the capacity to implement a process that would – you probably don't want to get involved in. And I already – I understand that you have said that you're not going to cooperate with a stun belt, which at this juncture because you've offered no reasons to use it, we're not going to implement. But it is available. And should things get out of hand, we will ensure that the propriety of the courtroom is maintained. And if that includes putting a stun belt on you, that's what will happen.

---

<sup>6</sup> Appellant was read his *Faretta* warnings a third time during this portion of the trial.

(R. p. 88). After which, the State proactively raised concerns regarding Appellant's decision not change out of his prison attire, and that he was during pretrial matters still in handcuffs. The court noted that it would remove his handcuffs, provide him pen and paper, and that he would instruct the jury regarding the Appellant's clothing and leg shackles, in anticipation of Appellant addressing the jury for an opening statement. Appellant did not offer any proper substantive response to these arrangements; he instead only noted his objection to the trial and his intention not to participate. (R. p. 89). The trial court then took a break in anticipation of striking a jury.

When the parties returned, Appellant claimed that he had been physically assaulted by multiple people in the courtroom<sup>7</sup> and reiterated his various assertions and his lack of consent to the trial going forward. (R. p. 90). Though the officers did not address the court, the circumstances provided the court with an inferential first instance of physical confrontation and noncooperation by Appellant.

What followed next was five consecutive interruptions of the court by Appellant. (R. p. 90-91). In response, the trial court issued the following warning: "I want to tell you what could happen if you misbehave. The United States Supreme Court would allow you to be bound and gagged in the courtroom. So just keep that in mind. And there are other measures that could be taken, including a stun – stun bracelet or anklet." Appellant's behavior continued for another seven pages of transcribed dialogue. (R. p. 91-98).

The jury entered, the indictments were read, and the *voir dire* and selection process began. Appellant chose not to speak or introduce himself. (R. p. 98-102). When the opportunity to seat or strike individual potential jurors began, Appellant would briefly reiterate his usual nonresponsive

---

<sup>7</sup> The record is not clear, but it can be inferred that he was referencing law enforcement officers responsible for his transportation to and from the courtroom.

assertions, wherein he objects to the proceedings or challenges the jurisdiction of the court. (R. p. 112-123). Ultimately, a jury was selected, and the court then recessed for lunch.

Upon returning from lunch, though not responsive to the court's question regarding discovery, Appellant informed the court that he was not at trial willingly, that he was handcuffed, shackled, tied to a chair, and insulted. Thereafter, the court took official notice of the developments concerning Appellant's restraint chair. The following dialogue transpired:

THE COURT: There's been a new development with Mr. Kelly. I see he's in a special chair; is that correct?

THE SLED OFFICER: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right. And for the record, the reason for that.

THE SLED OFFICER: Your Honor, it was when – he refused to come out of his cell. And then when we went to assist him in standing, it was active resistance towards us at that point in time. So he was placed in the chair and brought to the courtroom.

THE COURT: Okay.

DEFENDANT KELLY: I object. That's a lie. I was physically assaulted.

THE COURT: Okay.

DEFENDANT KELLY: It's on camera.

THE COURT: All right. Well, let me – Mr. Kelly, we're just doing our best to accommodate you.

DEFENDANT KELLY: I don't want any accommodations.

THE COURT: Okay.

DEFENDANT KELLY: I don't want any participation in this circus.

THE COURT: All right. Well, this is your day in court, so to speak.

...

Just for the record, I want to make a finding that the Defendant has been disruptive. And that because of that behavior, pursuant to the guidelines, as I understand them from the United States Supreme Court laid out in *Illinois vs. Allen*, I approve the use of this restraint chair.

(R. p. 132-135). The trial proceeded and the State completed its direct examination of Officer Wasserman. At Appellant's request, the court recessed to allow Appellant time to confer with standby counsel, after which he chose to allow Ms. Lipinski to take over his defense. In the process of reaching this decision Appellant was permitted to get out of the chair. Upon return the restraint

chair was removed and Appellant was granted a second chance to behave by way of reduced and nonvisible restraints. Appellant's left hand was freed for writing, while his right hand, belly, and legs remained in shackling not visible to the jury. (R. p. 166-168; p. 194)

### **Discussion**

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the restraint chair was a necessary measure to ensure security and decorum in light of Appellant's prior behavior. Appellant's bizarre and disruptive verbal behavior over the course of multiple pretrial hearings, which ultimately escalated into physical confrontation and resistance to officers when it was time to proceed to court, was sufficient to support the trial court's decision. The trial court set forth on the record that pursuant to *Illinois v. Allen*, Appellant's behavior was the reason for the restraint chair's use at the outset of trial. As such, the court made a ruling based on the facts and circumstances that had been presented and its ruling was in keeping with the holdings of *Illinois v. Allen* and *Deck v. Missouri*.

The prohibitions against visible shackling are primarily set forth in two cases: *Illinois v. Allen* and *Deck v. Missouri*. The Supreme Court in *Illinois v. Allen* held that:

[i]t is essential to the proper administration of criminal justice that dignity, order, and decorum be the hallmarks of all court proceedings in our country. The flagrant disregard in the courtroom of elementary standards of proper conduct should not and cannot be tolerated. We believe trial judges confronted with disruptive, contumacious, stubbornly defiant defendants must be given sufficient discretion to meet the circumstances of each case. No one formula for maintaining the appropriate courtroom atmosphere will be best in all situations. We think there are at least three constitutionally permissible ways for a trial judge to handle an obstreperous defendant like Allen: (1) bind and gag him, thereby keeping him present; (2) cite him for contempt; (3) take him out of the courtroom until he promises to conduct himself properly.

*Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 343–44, 90 S. Ct. 1057, 1061, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970). In 2005, the Supreme Court in *Deck v. Missouri* harkened back to its holding in *Allen* and elaborated that the State’s use of visible shackles are only permissible if there is set forth some articulation of special need, such as physical security, escape prevention, or courtroom decorum. *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 626-28, 125 S. Ct. 2007, 2010 (2005). The determination of the special need is made at the discretion of the trial court. *Id.* at 629. *State v. Heyward*, 441 S.C. 484, 493, 895 S.E.2d 658, 663 (2023) (quoting *United States v. Samuel*, 431 F.2d 610 (4th Cir. 1970)) (“Whenever unusual visible security measures in jury cases are to be employed, we will require the district judge to state for the record, out of the presence of the jury, the reasons therefor and give counsel an opportunity to comment thereon, as well as to persuade him that such measures are unnecessary.”). Any error on the part of the trial court only requires reversal if the State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the shackling error complained of “did not contribute to the verdict obtained.” *Id.*, 505–06.

As an initial matter, Respondent would argue that this claim is not preserved for appellate review. Under *Deck*, a court that permits the use of visible shackles *without* setting forth its reasoning and justification would likely constitute a *per se* violation of due process preserved for appellate review regardless of whether objection was raised. *Id.* However, once a court sets forth its reasoning for exercising discretion and permitting shackling, as the trial court did here, the finding must be objected to by the complaining party. Here, the record set forth Appellant’s behavior and the trial court articulated its reasoning in reliance upon that behavior, but there was no subsequent objection by Appellant, nor any articulation by Appellant that he was concerned the jury would see him in the restraint chair. Thus, there is no basis for which the finding of the trial court was challenged. In the absence of an objection, this claim is not preserved for appellate

review. See *State v. Heyward*, 441 S.C. 484, 493, 895 S.E.2d 658, 663 (2023); *Ryals v. State*, 439 S.C. 230, 237, 886 S.E.2d 239, 243 (Ct. App. 2023).

In arguendo, if the claim is preserved, the record demonstrates that the trial court abided the requirements of controlling precedent under *Allen* and *Deck*. The record demonstrates the extensive and persistent poor behavior by Appellant in the form of verbal interruptions of the court and reiterated nonsensical objections. Though it chose not to seek further details at the time, by inference from Appellant's first claim of physical assault (R. p. 90), the trial court was also made aware that Appellant may not be entirely cooperative with the law enforcement officer's tasked with his transport. The court also issued two separate verbal warnings that continued misbehavior would lead to physical restraint consequences. Finally, and only after police officers had to utilize a restraint chair just to get Appellant into the courtroom, did Judge Miller exercise discretion in permitting visible shackling. Under the circumstances, the court's finding of the necessity of the restraint chair during trial comes from the very fact that police needed such measures just to subdue and transport Appellant.

In essence, the court bent over backwards to avoid such measures, but could not countenance physical resistance and further disruption. In accordance with *Deck* the court requested the SLED officer state for the record why the restraints were needed and then put its findings on the record that the restraint chair was warranted in light of the totality of Appellant's behavior to that point. There is no abuse of discretion in the court's decision, and moreover, it is clear from the record that the trial court continued to exercise discretion by permitting the restraining chair to be later removed in favor of less restrictive measures once standby counsel took over his defense.

Appellant's arguments to the contrary ring hollow and fail to fully respect the fact that Appellant's lack of cooperation turned into physical resistance of law enforcement personnel shortly before court was set to reconvene. In transporting such a defendant into court, *and in needing a restraint chair to do so*, it is axiomatic that the defendant had created a potential security risk. Appellant's disruptive behavior was purposeful, persistent, abhorrent, and ultimately physically confrontational in the context of courtroom decorum. Contrary to Appellant's arguments, disruptive circumstances need not match the precise vile or abusive language that defendant Allen displayed in order for *Allen* remedies to be appropriately implemented. It is, as articulated by *Deck*, a matter of the court's discretion and Appellant has failed to identify an abuse of that discretion during his trial.

Instead, Appellant has suggested that the trial court should have exercised its discretion *differently* by exploring other alternatives. Appellant even suggests that gagging or overriding Appellant's constitutional right to self-representation by proceeding with a trial in absentia would have been more appropriate – such forms of relief would almost certainly have *also* been challenged on appeal by Appellant. Appellant then argues that a stun belt would have been a less prejudicial means of restraint. However, the record demonstrates Appellant had already made it clear that he would not cooperate with the use of such a device. (R. p. 88). The fact that Appellant capitulates to the consideration of other options at all is a demonstration of the weakness of its argument that the court was not within its discretion to act upon Appellant's behavior. Appellant presented the court with repeated disruptions and legitimate concern over physical resistance and the court found physical restraint an appropriate measure.

Appellant's claims of prejudice likewise strain the bounds of reason. The concern for unfair prejudice that arises from unnecessary visible shackling is that the jury would find it an

“unmistakable indication[] of the need to separate a defendant from the community at large” such that the jury may perceive the defendant as “particularly dangerous or culpable”. *Holbrook v. Flynn*, 475 U.S. 560, 569, 106 S. Ct. 1340, 1346, 89 L. Ed. 2d 525 (1986). However, that is the same exact concern that arises from wearing prison attire in the presence of the jury. *Id.* Here, however, Appellant had already voluntarily subjected himself to such risks by refusing to change out of his prison attire in the presence of the jury, and he chose to do so *throughout his entire trial*. (R. p. 466). In the context of prejudice, since the jury had already seen Appellant in his prison clothing, *also* seeing him in shackling would be ultimately unimpactful. Such would not have contributed to the verdict, especially in light of the evidence presented in this case. Collectively, the lack of prejudice demonstrates that, *even if* error were to be found in the trial court’s decision, such error would be harmless.

**II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant’s motion to remove all remaining shackling due to a concern that such might be audible to the jury.**

**Issue as it was presented at trial**

After Ms. Lipinski took over Appellant’s defense at trial, she made numerous motions on his behalf before testimony resumed. One such motion was to request that Appellant’s remaining right wrist handcuff be removed during trial. The motion evolved into a request to remove all forms of restraints that Appellant was subject to based upon her assertion that the shackles can be heard when Appellant moved around. Her argument appears to concede that the shackles in question are not visible, due to “picnic screens and whatnot”, but that “you can nonetheless hear the metal, the belly chain that he’s in, the handcuffs that he’s in, the leg restraints that he’s in.”<sup>8</sup> (R. p. 193-194).

---

<sup>8</sup> Appellant sets forth in brief that “Appellant was shackled at the wrists and ankles and chained around his body. See Court’s Exhibits # 9 – 10. It was undisputed the shackles were audible to the

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